33443

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 33,443

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

HAL H. McCAGHREN, Esq.

Respondent.

BRIEF OF COMPLAINANT

FILED

JUL 21 1934

CLERK SUPREME COURT

W. C. OWEN, JR. 507 North Olive Avenue West Palm Beach, Florida Attorney for Complainant

Page
ii
1
1
1
2
5
9
10
12
13
15
19

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar adopts the statement of the case as set forth in the brief filed on behalf of the Respondent.

POINTS INVOLVED

Respondent sets forth in his brief six points to each of which Complainant will respond but Complainant says that the point actually involved on this appellate review should be stated as follows:

POINT VII

IS THERE SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUSTAIN THE FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE REFEREE AND THE JUDGMENT OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The statement of facts set forth in the brief filed on behalf of Respondent is accepted as a correct statement of the testimony of the particular witness quoted, with the exception of the statement appearing on page 10 of such brief that the law firm by which Mr. Sales was employed decided not to represent Mrs. Daly due to her history of adultery. As to this particular item we believe that the testimony shows only that the law firm declined to continue with the representation because of the photographic proof that Mrs. Daly had been guilty of adultery on the occasion upon which the picture was taken.

The statement of facts should be supplemented with the following additional matters:

The private detective employed by the Respondent could not recall whether Respondent had given him the name of the man whom he expected would be caught in the act with Mrs. Daly, but it was the detective's belief that the Respondent had given him the name of such man. (TR-28) The detective, Donald C. Ehrler, also testified that when the Respondent called him to come to the office for a conference on the evening upon which the pictures were actually taken, Respondent told the detective"... it would definitely have to be done that night, that he had previously employed some agency in Miami and that he had tried to contact them and they were

unable to come up or something or other, I don't know what the difficulty was, that he said it had to be done that night' (TR- 28-29) On that same occasion Respondent informed the detective that Mrs. Daly sometimes leaves the door open. (TR-29) The detective did find the kitchen door unlocked. (TR-31) The Respondent also gave the detective a description of the man for whom they were to be on the lookout that night (TR-32) and whom they subsequently photographed in bed with Mrs. Daly. The detective described this as a "pretty detailed description of the man". (TR-36)

When Mrs. Daly's attorney, Mr. Ronald Sales, spoke to the Respondent in the Respondent's office a few days later the Respondent told Mr. Sales that he did not know the man who was shown in the pictures which had been taken by the detectives on or about October 14th. (TR-45) Attorney Sales described Mrs. Daly as an elderly, unattractive person physically whereas Mr. DeSarro was described as a handsome man in the prime of his life. (TR-46)

Respondent when called to testify at first could not recall having advised his client that his best grounds for divorce would be his wife's adultery, (TR-85) but after refreshing his recollection through means of deposition taken previously in the common law action which Respondent had filed against Mr. Daly for certain fees, Respondent did recall advising his client along these lines as being the

most economic way of obtaining the divorce. (TR- 85-88)
Respondent did know DeSarro "to see him as to who he was",
(TR-89) and in fact had spoken to him on at least one
occasion when he had come to the office with Mr. Daly. (TR-90)

Respondent also testified that the detectives called him at 2:00 A.M. on the morning following their successful attempt to secure the picture of Mrs. Daly. (TR-93) Prior to the time Respondent was able to secure the pictures of Mrs. Daly in the compromising situation, he stated that he had other evidence of adulterous conduct on her part but not such that he would consider sufficient proof of that grounds (TR-96), or not sufficiently conclusive (TR-99). Respondent testified that on every occasion that Mr. Daly left home to go out of town Mrs. Daly "played at home" and when Mr. Daly was in town, Mrs. Daly "played at a place down in the Boynton area", (TR-101).

Respondent testified that on the day of filing the Complaint in the divorce case he paid to Mr. DeSarro the sum of \$1,500 in cash, (TR-103) and that at the time Respondent made the payment to DeSarro on October 23rd he knew that DeSarro was the man who appeared in the compromising picture with Mrs. Daly. (TR-110) Respondent admitted that the payment of \$1,500 to DeSarro was suspicious (TR-110) and also unusual (TR-111). At that time the Respondent also "suspected an awful lot". (TR-111)

Respondent also testified that in paying the money to DeSarro he had the opinion that Mr. Daly had hired him (DeSarro) or had agreed to pay him if he would continue his conduct because Mr. Daly knew his conduct had been going on but that the Respondent was short of the necessary or what he felt to be positive proof. (TR-160)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE WAS NO CONNIVANCE PROVEN.

Although the Referee found that Respondent had not been guilty of connivance himself, and also found that Respondent had not allowed or permitted his client to connive with DeSarro to commit an adulterous act with Mrs. Daly, nonetheless the Referee found from all of the evidence, that the adulterous act had been committed through the connivance of someone, as set forth in paragraph 18 of the report of the Referee as follows:

"18. It is the opinion of the undersigned that Respondent was guilty of chicane and misconduct in taking advantage of a known connived adulterous act (i.e. adultery committed by the connivance of someone and known by Respondent to have been connived at the time Respondent took advantage of it)....." (A-16)

This appeal is, of course, from the judgment of the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar dated May 1, 1964, in which judgment the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar

stated:

"The Referee found that the Respondent had obtained photographic evidence of an adulterous act by the estranged wife of his client and that he knew that the adultery and proof thereof were brought about by the connivance of the client." (A-25)

While the judgment is at variance with the report of the Referee as to who brought about the connivance to have the adulterous act committed, the question of who connived is not essential to a finding that Respondent knew of the connivance.

What is important is that in both the report of the Referee and the Judgment from which the appeal is taken there is a finding that there was connivance to bring about the adulterous act. Under Rule 11.11 (3) (e) the burden is upon the Respondent to show that the judgment from which the appeal is taken is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified.

The express wording of this rule is in line with the law which was in effect prior to the adoption of the Integration Rule where, in disciplinary proceedings had before a Circuit Court, it was recognized that the Appellate Court should not interfere unless it was clear that the trial Court had ruled erroneously. Zachery vs. State, 53 Fla. 94, 43

So. 925 (1907); In Re: Harrell, 156 Fla. 327, 23 So. 2d 92 (145)

It is true that the Referee did state in his report

that "connivance was a fact which itself was not positively proved" (A-9) but Complainant submits that the proper interpretation of this is simply that there was not irrefutable evidence on the question. The ultimate finding and conclusion of the Referee to the effect that there had been connivance by someone would otherwise be an inconsistancy.

Circumstantial evidence may be proof of a fact equally as effective as direct evidence may be. Whetson vs. State, 31 Fla. 240, 12 So. 661 (1893) and although the Referee made reference to this in Paragraph 12 of his report (A-10) he erroneously applied the more strict rule pertaining to the use of circumstantial evidence in criminal cases as compared with the use of circumstantial evidence in civil cases. In disciplinary proceedings a Referee is not bound by technical rules of evidence, State vs. Dawson, 111 So. 2d 427 (Fla. 1959 nor is the Supreme Court concerned with application of laws and rules governing the administration of criminal law in such proceedings, In Re: Harrell, 156 Fla. 327, 23 So. 2d 92 (1945).

Giving the Respondent benefit of the Referee's finding that the Respondent himself did not actively engage in connivance, nor knowingly permit or allow his client to do so, nonetheless the overall picture of connivance by someone, although established by circumstantial evidence, is so strong as to clearly outweigh any other reasonably hypothesis or conclusion.

Although Respondent testified that every time his client, Mr. Daly, was out of town, the wife "played at home" Clearly inferring that she was guilty of numerous acts of adultery during the husband's absence,) the fact remains that in all the period of time that Respondent had been conducting an investigation he had never obtained photographic proof of the same. It is more then coincidence that on the night his client should again leave town, Respondent is able to contact detectives at approximately 6:30 in the evening, which detectives then wait until approximately 9:30 that evening to commence surveillance, and at or near midnight are able to find an unlocked door through which to enter the house, and secure flash pictures of the adulterous act.

What must also be considered more than mere coincidence is the fact that Respondent told the detectives that he had previously had detectives from Miami working on the case, but that he did not have time to get them back up to West Palm Beach and that "it had to be tonight" the plain inference being that there would be little doubt of the success of the mission.

Regardless of who brought about actively the alleged connivance and giving the Respondent benefit of the Referee's finding that it was not, the Respondent, the overall picture amply supports the finding that there was in fact connivance by someone to have the adulterous act committed.

The referee rejected the proffered testimony of William DeSarro (TR- 167-174) in which proffered testimony the witness DeSarro testified to a telephone conversation with the Respondent on the evening in question during which the matter of DeSarro going to Mrs. Daly's residence that evening was discussed and the Respondent stated that he would arrange for surveillance. The witness testified also that in a subsequent telephone call that same evening the Respondent asked that the witness arrange to leave a door open. Had the proffered testimony, which was erroneously excluded by the Referee, been considered by the Referee, it would undoubtedly have resulted in the Respondent having been found guilty on the first two counts of the Complaint as well.

POINT II

THE RESPONDENT COULD NOT HAVE HAD KNOWLEDGE OF ANY CONNIVANCE.

Simply stated, Respondent's argument is that proof of connivance having occurred is an essential predicate for proof of knowledge of such connivance, and that since it is argued under Point I that no connivance was proven, then it logically follows that there could be no adjudication of guilt of knowledge of such connivance.

Assuming the correctness of the major premise, to wit:
That there was no connivance proven, the Respondent's reasoning and conclusion is sound under ordinary criminal practice and procedure. On the other hand, if the major premise

is not established, or if Respondent is to be judged by ethical standards that would not apply in a normal criminal proceeding, Respondent's argument must fall.

Respondent's major premise, to wit: connivance was not proven, will stand or fall on the argument made under Point I hereof.

The standard of conduct by which Respondent should be judged is discussed in argument under Points III and IV hereof.

POINT III.

THE "KNOWLEDGE" IMPUTED TO THE RES-PONDENT BY THE REFEREE WAS NOT SUF-FICIENT KNOWLEDGE TO HOLD RESPONDENT LIABLE.

POINT IV.

THERE WAS NO PROOF OF RESPONDENT HAVING KNOWLEDGE OF ANY CONNIVANCE.

Points III and IV as stated by Respondent are sufficiently similar that they will be argued jointly.

The Referee, in his report, distinguished between a person having actual or direct knowledge of a fact, of the type required to inable a witness to state a fact under oath, from knowledge of the type that would in law be considered as implied, imputed or constructive in nature. Just as the law holds one to have seen that which by the exercise of his ordinary sense of sight he could and should have seen, so the law holds one to know that which by the exercise of

ordinary care, skill and senses one ought to know.

By his own admission Respondent was an intelligent, well-educated practicing member of the Bar for a period of approximately 19 years at the time of the transaction involved here. By his own admission he had suspicion "of a lot of things" and he admitted that the entire transaction with DeSarro was "unusual".

Respondent denied, however, that he had any proof or knowledge of connivance or of the fact that the payment to DeSarro was for "getting caught in the act". Accepting for the purpose of this argument the Respondent's statement that he had no proof or knowledge, were not all of the circumstances such as to put a reasonably prudent and intelligent practicing lawyer on notice that the entire transaction smacked of connivance and impropriety? May a lawyer sit in the middle of such a situation and like the three monkeys, suddenly become deaf, dumb and blind, neither seeing that which was clearly to be seen, hearing that which was to be heard nor speaking out when it became his duty to do so.

For Respondent to say under such circumstances that he did not know what was transpiring, he would have to be unbelievably naive. The Referee obviously did not feel that such was the case, but on the contrary concluded that from all of the evidence the Respondent did have knowledge that he was paying off the man who had been a part of the connived adultery.

The evidence substantiating this finding of the Referee is not only clear and convincing, but overwhelming.

POINT V.

THE EVIDENCE OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE DISBURSEMENTS TO DE SARRO WAS NOT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A JUDGMENT AGAINST THE RESPONDENT.

There is little benefit to be gained by again summarizing in full the circumstances surrounding the payments by Respondent to DeSarro. Suffice to say that the payments were made under very surreptious circumstances and in two principal installments so closely coinciding with the filing of the suit for divorce and the entry of final decree therein respectively as to be more than mere coincidence.

DeSarro did occasionally chauffeur Mr. or Mrs. Daly around the area. While the record does not indicate the exact period of time that DeSarro had performed any services for Mr. or Mrs. Daly, nor the nature or extent of those services such as full time, part time, etc., it is difficult to conceive that Mr. Daly would pay DeSarro \$3,500 (or rather \$3,750 as it subsequently developed) for chauffeuring duties for a few months. On the other hand, if this type of service extended over a period of a year or more, it is contrary to human experience that DeSarro would have worked such a period of time without expecting or receiving periodic compensation for such services.

While Daly himself may have conducted all of his business by cash payments during his lifetime, good business practice would find lawyers paying out funds from their trust account by checks drawn on such trust account rather than through cash payments. Conceding that DeSarro wanted cash and that Daly instructed the Respondent to pay in cash, this alone should have been sufficient to put Respondent on notice of impropriety, as an entirely legitimate transaction such as payment of wages for chauffeuring service would not likely find the parties wanting or demanding cash payment.

Respondent argues in his brief that he would not have produced receipts for payment of the money to DeSarro if they were in fact receipts of a "payoff". In answer to this it should be kept in mind that Respondent testified that he would not pay out this "kind of money" (meaning amount) without obtaining a receipt. (TR-137) Secondly, it should be kept in mind that the receipts were not produced voluntarily by the Respondent in this case, but were offered by the Complainant after copies of such receipts had been obtained from the common law file on the case between the Respondent and his former client, Daly.

POINT VI

THE PROCEEDINGS HELD IN THIS ACTION AND THE DELAY THEREIN WERE NOT CONSISTENT WITH JUSTICE AND THE LAW.

Respondent points out that although the complaint was

filed on May 28, 1962, the hearing was not held until January 3, 1963. A summary of the docket sheet in this matter on file with this Court will show that approximately four months delay in that time was occasioned by the necessity for appointing substitute Referees because of the Respondent's objections to the Referee originally appointed, and to the Referee appointed as the first substitute. Thereafter, some two and one half months delay was brought about by the inability of counsel for the Complainant and the Respondent to find a trial date which avoided conflicts with their schedule of civil trials.

There was a delay of approximately twelve months between the date of hearing and the filing of the report of the Referee, but with this exception, all other aspects of this proceeding have moved along substantially in accordance with the time schedule provided for under the rule governing disciplinary proceedings. Complainant agrees with the statement of the Court in State vs. Oxford, 127 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1961) to the effect that disciplinary proceedings should be handled with dispatch. Complainant respectfully submits to this Court that delay in this case was neither wilful nor done to intentionally harass the Respondent, and the Respondent has not shown that he was prejudiced in any manner by such delay.

Pages 37 to 40 inclusive of Respondent's Brief refer

exclusively to matters which would not appear to have any place in these proceedings, and consequently it is respectfully submitted to the Court that this portion of Respondent's brief should be stricken. Neither the identity nor the motive of a complaining witness before the grievance committee is material to the issue. Rule 11.04 (4) It is respectfully submitted that if in fact the complaining witness has himself been guilty of improprieties, the proper forum to determine such is not in connection with Respondent's matter but by appropriate disciplinary proceedings in a separate matter.

POINT VII

IS THERE SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUSTAIN THE FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE REFEREE AND THE JUDGMENT OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS.

Since under Rule 11.11 (3) (e) the burden is upon the appellant to show wherein the judgment from which the appeal is taken is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified, it necessarily follows that the judgment of the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar comes before this Court with a presumption that the same is correct.

As a necessary corollary, it must also follow that unless such judgment is shown to be erroneous, unlawful or unjustified the judgment should be approved and affirmed.

The judgment from which the appeal is taken finds the Respondent guilty of having violated Canons 15, 16, 22, 31

and 41 of the Canons of Professional Ethics.

Canon 15 expressly prohibits any manner of fraud or chicane. The Referee found that Respondent used the pictures to force a property settlement and subsequently allowed or permitted such property agreement to be incorporated into the final decree.

Canon 16 requires the lawyer to use his best efforts to restrain clients from committing improprieties and wrong doing particularly toward Courts and suitors. The evidence clearly discloses that Respondent made no effort to restrain or remonstrate with his client on the payments to DeSarro, even though they were under such suspicious or unusual circumstances as should have put the Respondent on notice of an impropriety being involved.

Canon 22 requires candor and fairness on the part of the lawyer before the Court and with other lawyers. The Referee having found that the Respondent had knowledge that the photographic evidence he possessed was obtained through connivance, it follows that Respondent was guilty of breaching this Canon of ethics when he failed to disclose to either the Court or his adversary the circumstances which he himself felt to be suspicious and unusual.

Canon 31 places directly upon the lawyer responsibility for litigation and for advising as to questionable transactions, etc. Respondent's attempt in this case to avoid any

responsibility by urging that he was merely following his client's instructions in making payment to DeSarro, flies directly in the face of the expressed working of the Canon that such excuse does not relieve the lawyer of his responsibility.

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