33.443 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA HAL H. McCAGHREN, RESPONDENT vs. THE STATE OF FLORIDA ex rel. THE FLORIDA BAR, Respondent. ComPLAINANT neut BRIEF OF F IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR REVIEW FILED. JUN 4 1964 GUYTE P. MCCORD CLERK SUPREME COURT BY. FARISH & FARISH Denco Building 316 First Street West Palm Beach, Florida Attorneys for Petitioner LAW OFFICES, FARISH AND FARISH, WEST PALM BEACH, FLORIDA

•>

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

ARGUMENT

V

3

This action began when The Florida Bar lodged a complaint against the Respondent for his alleged participation in a connived adulterous act alleged to have taken place between William De Sarro and the wife of Respondent's client (A 1).

Respondent was charged with direct participation in the connivance, passive participation in the connivance, use of evidence of the connivance in a chicane manner, and making payments to the third party in the connivance, William De Sarro (A 1, 2).

The Complaint was based on the alleged connivance and Respondent's participation in or knowledge of the connivance. If there was no connivance, then all of Respondent's conduct was entirely proper and was normal procedure for an attorney in his situation. If there was connivance, then the question of Respondent's knowledge or participation still remained. The Referee stated the issue in these words:

> "First, did the Respondent participate directly in a connived adulterous act? Second, did he passively but knowingly allow his client to connive such adulterous act or did he, knowing that an adulterous act had been connived, take advantage of it for his client, Mr. Daly, over Mrs. Daly." (A 9).

The entire case against the Respondent relied and was predicated on the existence of a connived adulterous act between William De Sarro and the wife of Respondent's client. In order to be guilty of any of the four charges contained in the complaint lodged by The Florida Bar, Respondent had to be proven to have either participated in the connivance, directly or passively, or to have had knowledge that the connivance existed (A 8, 9).

N.

By the Judgment of the Board of Governors and the Report of Referee adopted by the Judgment, Respondent was found innocent of any participation in any connivance either directly or passively (A 16, 22). But Respondent was found guilty of having knowledge of a connived adulterous act and using evidence of the act to obtain a favorable property settlement for his client (A 22, 25).

The point apparently overlooked by the Referee and the Board of Governors was that Respondent could not be held responsible for knowledge of any connivance that has not been proven to have taken place. If there was no connivance, then there could be no knowledge by Respondent of said connivance and Respondent's conduct would be entirely proper. The Referee even stated this, substantially, early in his Report.

> "In other words, therefore, there is nothing improper in anything the Respondent did unless he participated directly in the connivance or proceeded to gain an advantage for Mr. Daly over Mrs. Daly, knowing that the adulterous act had been connived." (A 8, 9).

POINT I

THERE WAS NO CONNIVANCE PROVEN.

Of course, the next question is the first question that should have been answered in the proceeding, was there any connivance proven or established to have occurred? The answer to this question must be in the negative, and for that reason the Respondent must necessarily be held free of any misconduct concerning the alleged connivance.

Let us examine the Referee's Report and the testimony presented at the Hearing on the Complaint against Respondent. The Referee found that there were three (3) possibilities indicated by the evidence as to the circumstances surrounding the adulterous act:

> "/FIRST7 It is recognized that Mr. Daly and/or Respondent could have hired or encouraged De Sarro to commit the act. <u>/SECOND7</u> On the other hand, it is equally recognized that Mr. Daly and/or Respondent might have had sufficient knowledge of Mrs. Daly's past activities to expect that the adultery would be committed that particular evening while Mr. Daly was away from his home and in the hospital. THIRD It is further recognized that Mr. Daly could have connived to employ De Sarro to commit the act and then could have requested the Respondent to get the evidence, without giving the Respondent any reason to know that the expected act had been connived." (A 7, 8).

The <u>FIRST</u> of these possibilities was eliminated when Respondent was found innocent of any participation in the alleged connivance (A 16).

The THIRD possibility required that Daly be the one

who arranged the connived adulterous act. But of this possibility the Referee concluded:

16

"(T)here is no proof that Mr. Daly himself participated in any connivance * * *." (A 10).

It must be concluded, therefore, that the <u>THIRD</u> possibility was not proven, and that there was no proof that either Respondent or Daly participated in the connivance (A 10, 16).

That leaves the <u>SECOND</u> possibility as the only explanation of the circumstances surrounding the adulterous act that is consistent with the evidence and proof. And the <u>SECOND</u> possibility means that the Respondent was entirely free from any misconduct in obtaining and utilizing evidence of the adultery to obtain a favorable property settlement for his client since there was no connivance involved (A 7).

The fact is, that there was no proof offered at the Hearing that the adulterous act in question had been connived. Throughout the Report of the Referee, this term is used in referring to the connivance:

> "* * * if such connivance actually occurred." (A 7, 8)

> > (Emphasis supplied)

The only persons who could have arranged the connivance were the Respondent and Daly, and the Referee concluded that there was no proof that either so connived. The Referee finally concluded that the connivance was "* * * a fact itself not <u>positively proved</u> * * *." (A 9) (Emphasis supplied)

In spite of having concluded, correctly so, that the connivance was never proven, the Referee went on to find

the Respondent guilty of having knowledge of the connivance. The Judgment of the Board of Governors declared:

> "The referee found that the respondent * * * knew that the adultery and proof thereof were brought about by the <u>connivance</u> of his client." (A 25)

> > (Emphasis supplied)

"His client" was Daly and the Referee said of Daly:

1

"(T)here is no proof that Mr. Daly himself participated in any connivance * * *." (A 10).

The Judgment and the Report are entirely inconsistent and the finding against Respondent is error because it is predicated upon the existence of an unproven fact.

POINT II

16

THE RESPONDENT COULD NOT HAVE HAD KNOWLEDGE OF ANY CONNIVANCE.

The Referee concluded that Respondent was guilty of having knowledge of the connivance and using evidence of the connived adulterous act to gain his client a favorable property settlement (A 16). In so doing, the Referee admittedly made up his own definition of the word "knowledge", apparently realizing that the proof did not exist as to the actual knowledge of the Respondent, especially since the connivance was never proven to exist (A 19, 20). This is the language used by the Referee:

> "It is the undersigned's <u>Referee's</u> opinion that the 'knowledge' required to prove Respondent guilty of charges (c) and (d) of the Complaint is not * * * personal knowledge * * *. The 'knowledge' that is required, and for which Respondent as a lawyer is held responsible, is practical, commonsense knowledge." (A 20).

Based on this special definition of knowledge, Respondent was found guilty of charges (c) and (d) of the Complaint (A 20). What the Referee leaves unexplained is how the Respondent could be guilty of having <u>any kind</u> of "knowledge", personal or practical, of any connivance <u>not proven to have</u> <u>taken place</u> (A 9, 10, 16).

Now there are no reported decisions directly on this question, but the Respondent would like to demonstrate the unreasonableness of the Referee's findings by drawing an analogy. In a prosecution for the crime of Receiving Stolen Goods, it is necessary that the State prove that the property received by the accused was <u>actually stolen</u> i.e. that the accused did, in fact, receive <u>stolen goods</u>. 28 Fla. Jur. <u>Receiving Stolen Goods</u>, § 6 and cases cited. So in this case, it was incumbent upon the Complainant to prove that the adulterous act of which Respondent had knowledge <u>was actually connived</u> i.e. that the Respondent did, in fact, have knowledge of a <u>connived</u> <u>act</u>. Having failed to prove that the adulterous act in question was connived the Complainant has failed to sustain its burden of proof and the Referee and the Board of Governors were in error in adjudging the Respondent guilty of having knowledge of an unproven act.

POINT III

THE "KNOWLEDGE" IMPUTED TO THE RESPONDENT BY THE REFEREE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT KNOWLEDGE TO HOLD RESPONDENT LIABLE.

As noted, <u>supra</u>, the Referee used his own definition of "knowledge" in adjudging the Respondent guilty (A 19,20). The Referee quoted the Respondent's testimony:

"In fairness to Respondent it must be noted that he claims (Record page 112) that when he made the \$1,500 payment to De Sarro he had the <u>suspicion</u> that it was for services rendered by Mr. De Sarro to Daly for going to bed with Daly's wife, but Respondent said (page 112):

> 'I had the <u>suspicion</u>, yes; yes, but no proof, no knowledge of it, <u>suspicion</u>; yes, suspicion of a lot of things.'

"It is the undersigned's <u>/Referee's</u> opinion that the 'knowledge' required to prove Respondent guilty of charges (c) and (d) of the Complaint is not * * * personal knowledge * * *." (A 19, 20).

(Emphasis supplied)

By these few words expressing the Referee's "opinion", (A 20) the quantum of proof required to convict the Respondent has been drastically lowered and "suspicion" has been substituted for "knowledge".

There is no doubt but that an attorney must be held to a strict standard of conduct in his dealings with his clients, but the protection afforded an attorney when his honor and professional integrity are put on trial is no less than that afforded to any man. The Courts have declared: "(A)nd while the individual attorney is entitled to no greater judicial protection under these circumstances than the law affords to those who follow other professions and occupations, <u>he is</u>, in all justice, entitled to no less."

2

Toft v. Ketchum, 18 N.J. 280, 113 A. 2d 671, 52 A.L.R. 2d 1208.

So here, the Referee, or the Board of Governors, cannot substitute an "opinion" in place of the standard by which the Respondent is entitled to be judged. The word "knowledge" is not a synonym for the word "suspicious" or "guess" or any other word of lesser integrity, and the Respondent cannot be held liable until it is proven that he had honest-to-goodness knowledge of connivance. If the proof doesn't support such a conclusion then the charge must fail and the charge cannot be altered to fit the proof.

The Referee, himself, apparently recognized this earlier in his Report when he stated:

"An attorney's suspicions are not enough, and an attorney, because he may realize that something could be connived as well as genuinely happen, is not obligated to put his client on trial and proceed to interrogate his client by leading and possibly embarrassing questions challenging the actions or situations the client takes or reports to him. If the attorney observes and knows that something is wrong, he would be a participant in it. In the absence of such knowledge, the attorney is privileged to carry out the lawful requests of his principal." (A 7).

By his own language, the Referee has established a standard of conduct and proof in one instance and has completely varied from that standard in the next, by adjudging the Respondent guilty.

It is respectfully submitted that the Complainant has completely failed to prove that the Respondent had sufficient knowledge of any alleged connivance to support a finding against the Respondent.

POINT IV

THERE WAS NO PROOF OF RESPONDENT HAVING KNOWLEDGE OF ANY CONNIVANCE.

37

The measure of proof which must be met by a Complainant in a Disciplinary Proceeding such as is here involved, demands that the charges alleged must be proven by a clear preponderance of the evidence. <u>Gould v. State</u>, 99 Fla. 662, 127 So. 309, 69 A.L.R. 699.

An attorney is entitled to every judicial protection that any other person would be given. <u>Toft, supra</u>. As to the quality of proof required the Florida Supreme Court has stated:

> "It goes without saying that the power to disbar or suspend a member of the legal profession is not an arbitrary one to be exercised lightly, or with either passion or prejudice. Such power should be exercised only in a clear case for weighty reasons and on clear proof."

> > (Emphasis supplied)

<u>State v. Bass</u>, 106 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1958).

Besides the Respondent, himself, the only witnesses presented by the Complainant were two attorneys (TR 36, 59) who previously represented the wife of the Respondent's client and a private detective (TR 25) who obtained evidence of the adulterous act in question.

The only testimony given by the two attorneys consisted of the admitted usage by Respondent of evidence of the adulterous act in question in settlement negotiations between Respondent's client and the client's wife (TR 43, 66).

But there was no issue as to Respondent's use of the evidence of the adulterous act. The Referee, himself, stated that the use of the evidence <u>was entirely proper</u>, <u>in itself</u>, and that Respondent would have been derelict in his duty to his client had he not utilized the evidence (A 8). The Referee noted:

24

"The Respondent * * * and the detectives did not bring about the drastic results for Mrs. Daly. The Florida law forfeited her alimony for adultery, and it was she who committed the act. There was also nothing improper in Respondent's forcing a very favorable property settlement for his client as a result of the damaging evidence." (A 8).

The private detective testified to a matter not in controversy also, as he merely related that he was employed by Respondent to surveil the home of Mrs. Daly when Mr. Daly was away and to take pictures if Mrs. Daly should be meen with another man (TR 25-36). Again, the Referee noted that there was no improper conduct by the Respondent in his use of the private detectives:

> "Securing the services of detectives to take pictures to obtain evidence for a client's cause is in itself perfectly legitimate. The Respondent could even have been derelict in his responsibilities to his client had he not done so * * *." (A 8).

So, as to the three witnesses presented by the Complainant, there was no testimony by any of them which, in itself, was proof of Respondent's knowledge that the adulterous act involved was connived.

The Referee recognized that the evidence against the Respondent was lacking and commented throughout his Report

on this lack of proof. The Referee especially noted the absence of any testimony from Mr. or Mrs. Daly or De Sarro. The Report noted:

> "Mr. Daly, had he either personally or through his attorney committed the suggested connivance, probably would be reluctant to admit it. Mrs. Daly's testimony might also be of little benefit. Nevertheless, these <u>guesses</u> as to their testimony do not fill the existing void in the establishment of a case against the Respondent." (A 11).

As to the fact that Complainant had not presented the deposition of De Sarro, now deceased, the Report noted:

> "There is opportunity under the instant proceedings for taking depositions for use in evidence and/or for discovery. There is no reason why Petitioner /Complainant/ could not have followed such procedures. Had same been done, the deposition of De Sarro, now dead, could have been introduced into evidence." (A 12)

The Report is replete with declarations as to the lack of evidence against the Respondent. At one point the Referee went right to the heart of the matter:

> "The real problem comes in determining * * * whether or not there are sufficient items in evidence to prove the charges. Stating the problem differently, one finds that there is <u>no</u> direct evidence pointing to the guilt of the Respondent. All the evidence, except for Respondent's own testimony, is circumstantial." (A 9).

And as to the circumstantial evidence, the Report

said:

75

"(I)t is recognized from a number of circumstances that the Respondent's conduct is suspicious * * *." (A 10). But as to the value of a conclusion that conduct is suspicious the Referee stated:

20

"Persons, whether they are Mr. Daly or the Respondent, cannot be judged on guess or suspicion." (A 10).

(Emphasis supplied)

In spite of these conclusions as to the lack of and the flimsy nature of the evidence presented against Respondent, the Referee went on to find Respondent guilty of charges (c) and (d) of the Complaint (A 13). Respondent was made to suffer for Complainant's failure to present a complete case of proof.

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